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Situated on a high bluff overlooking the Capo Fear River, Oakland is one 
of the few remaining eighteenth century plantations in North ~arolina that 
has retained the idyllic atmosphere associated with the Old South. The house 
is approached through a long tree-lined avenue well over a mile in length: 
the first half of the drive is a narrow tunnel-like lane completely covered 
by large Southern red cedars; the second half is a wider avenue shaded by 
ancient deciduous troes. This opens into a four-acre yard bordered by magno­
lias, palmettos, hollies, and live oaks, all hung with Spanish moss. Behind 
the house are gigantic oaks and magnolias also covered with Spanish moss .. 
This provides a magnificent background for a·wide lawn and informal gardens 
which extend to the river. 

The plantation house is a large two-story building six bays wide and two 
bays deep built of brick laid in Flemish bond with two exterior end chimneys 
and an interior stack near the center of the gable roof.. Each chimney stack 
is accented by a white stuccoed band around the cap. 

The dwelling rests on a high brick basement the only entrance being thro 
a sunken entrance on the east gable end.. Originally lighted by segmental-arc 
openings which have been bricked up, the basement features brick floors laid 
in a herringbone pattern and an unusually large fireplace at the east end. 
The other two chimneys are supported by round-headed structural arches. 

Both the main (south) and rear facades are covered by full-height shed 
porches. The placement of original entrances at both levels on the facades 
indicates that these porches, both twentieth century, are replacements for 
earlier ones.. The two-tier south porch has, at each level, large square wood 
pillars dividing the six bays and is enclosed by simple square balusters and 
a rounded handrail. There is a doorway at each level in the fourth bay from 
the lefts The rear porch has full-height square pillars dividing the bays, 
with doorways in the second and fourth bays from the left at the first level 
and in the second and fifth at the second level. The upper doors open on to 
small balconies. The remaining openings contain windows with nine-over-nine 
sash in the first story and nine-over-six above.. Flanking the chimney.: stack 
at either end is a pair of small casement gable windows. All the openings 
are surmounted by flat arches formed. of alternating rowlocks and soldiers .. 

The plan of Oakland is most unusual.. The front door opens into the main 
hall which runs front to rear, dividing the house into two unequal sections .. 
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To the west is the parlor, while to the east are two smaller rooms and a 
secondary hall extending from the main hall west to east along the south (fro t) 
wall. 

All rooms on the first floor except the northwest room contain most of 
their original hardware, including HL hinges and box locks on the raised­
aneled doors. The walls are plastered above and below molded chair rails0 

The main stair rises from the west side of the entrance hall in two flig· ts 
eparated by a landing situated directly above the rear doorway so that the 
our-light transom is cut off from tha entrance and actually lights the landi g 
ather than the rear hall. Although the stair has a well-turned Georgian 
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balustrade terminating in a square faceted newel with a molded cap, the overal 
effect of the stair is rather plain because of the unadorned open string and 
flush-sheathed sides. 

The main (west) parlor contains Oakland's finest interiors, including a 
molded dentil cornice and a chair rail which breaks at each window. The long 
windows, set in deep slightly splayed reveals, have flat molded sills and were 
apparently used as window seats. Dominating the parlor is the impressive mant 
on the west wall. This consists of a heavy three-part architrave around the 
rectangular 0p3 ning with a narrow cushion frieze and molded cornice shelf ador 
with dentils above. The overmantel is composed of two fluted pilasters border·ng 
a large rectangular plaster wall section. The main cornice encloses the top 
of the plaster section and breaks out over the pilaster caps. 

Although the northwest room has neither a chair rail nor a cornice, the 
mantel located on the west wall is only slightly less elaborate than that in 
the main parlor. Located between two closets (the right opening into the room 
the left a small cupboard reached by a small door from the secondary hall), th 
mantel consists of a molded architrave around the opening, with a cushion frie e 
and molded shelf above. A simple two-part surround borders the large plaster 
overmantel. ·The northeast room contains the plainest first-story mantel, whic 
is composed of a molded architrave, unadorned frieze, and simple molded she~f. 

The only major changes to the interior on this floor appear to be the 
addition of bookshelves in the west secondary parlor during the Greek Revival 
period and the addition of a crude segmental arch above the door leading from 
the stair hall into the secondary hall. 

The plan of the second level is essentially the same as the first except 
that the southwest corner of the main hall is partitioned into closets and 
the west end of the .secondary hall houses the original plantation office (now 
a bathroom) .. 

The west bedroom is quite large (20'x20 1 ) and is the only second-floor 
room finished with a chair rail. The mantel is not as elaborate as might be 
expected, having an unusually narrow unadorned frieze below a molded shelf and 
a simple molded architrave around the rectangular op3ning. The mantel in the _ 
west secondary bedroom is quite vernacular. Flanking the opening are two smal 
reeded pilasters with heavy molded bases and caps. Extending from the caps 
is a molded architrave which borders the top of the.opening. The coved frieze 
adorned with a band of alternating vertical and horizontal reeding, is sur­
mounted by a large heavily molded shelf. 'Ihe mantel in the east secondary' 
bedroom also features a coved frieze and a heavily molded cornice above a 
course of molded pierced dentils. 

The attic is unfinished except for a few floor boards and is reached by 
a ladder in one of the small closets located in the southwest corner of the 
hall. 
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General Thomas Brown, the builder of Oakland, was a leader in the move­
ment to suppress the Tory faction in Bladen ·county. When the Provincial 
Congress of North Carolina met in August, 1775, he was designated a lieutena~t 
colonel for Bladen's two companies of militia. Then in May of 1776, as mome~ 
tum built toward revolution, Colonel Brown was ordered to Wilmington at the 
head of thirteen companies of draftees for the protection of the province .. 
That year it is recorded also that Brown was sent from Wilmington with a 
force of 110 men to quell a Tory uprising in Bladen. Brown may have counnand 3d 
at the Battle of Elizabethtown, which occurred August 27, 1781. Some accounus 
say it was his brother-in-law, Colonel Thomas Robeson, who led the Whig forc3 
which defeated a greatly superior number of Tories and thereby effectively 
ended Tory influence in Bladen. But in a letter dated July 15, 1781, Robeso1 
wrote to Governor Thomas Burke, "I have not seen Col. Brown since I got home 
who is the corrnnanding officer of Bladen, but am told he is coming up t.o us 
where our men is embodied or will be with us to-day, but it is impossible 
to get men to join us without Assistance o 

11 It is likely that if Brown did 
indeed arrive by the time of the battle, six weeks after Robeson's letter, 
he would have had the command of the Wbig militia. 

~olonel Brown was first married to Sarah Bartram, the daughter of Willie~ 
Bartram. This William Bartram was the uncle of the famous naturalist of tha 
name.. William Bartram, the naturalist, explored his uncle's lands on the 
Cape Fear River, and a description of the area is to be found in his Travels 
It is upon this land obtained by Bartram and passed on to his daughter, who 
died young in 1779, that Brown built Oakland--probably about the time he re­
married in 1780. His name, Tom Brown, is inscribed in flowing script on a 
brick in the rear wall of the houseo Tax lists of 1781 value Brown's estate 
at 24,850 pounds, and in 1788 he is listed as the o~~er of 6,791 acres and 
sixteen slaves.. Oakland remained in the Brown family for many years, and 
during the Civil War was the home of Captain W. H. Brown. The property left 
the Brown family when it was conveyed by the Mary E. Brown estate to N. G. 
Brisson in 1901. After three intervening owners it was sold in 1941 to J. A 
Neisler, the present owner. 

Oakland is a well-preserved post-Revolutionary plantation house with 
:1andsome Ja te Georgian interiors, one of the few of its type and period re­
maining in the stateo More than this, though, its dramatic approach and set1 ing 
make it a place of unique and evocative beauty. Oakland embodies perhaps mole 
~ vidly than any other plantation in North 'Carolina the romanticised ide a1 
pf the Old South. 
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